3-13-2012

State v. Hill Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38808

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Jerry Allan Hill appeals from his judgment of conviction for three counts of grand theft. He asserts that the district court erred by permitting a witness to testify to the effects of the alleged theft on one of the victims, and that the district court erred in awarding restitution.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Hill was a partner in the real estate firm of Jordan, Hill and Hall (*hereinafter*, the Firm). (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1). Sawnie Walker worked as the bookkeeper for the Firm from October 2005, until December 2008. (Tr., p.127, Ls.6-14.) She testified that the three partners had business credit cards and it was part of her duty to pay the bills for those credit cards. (Tr., p.130, Ls.7-20.) During her testimony, the State introduced Mr. Hill's credit card statement for the period of October 2004, through October 2006. (Tr., p.136, Ls.2-4.) The State also introduced evidence that the firm paid for the expenses on the card. (*See generally* plaintiff's exhibits 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9.) Ms. Walker testified that Mr. Hill instructed her to code an expense to the Spokane Chiefs as a company expense even though the firm had no business with that organization; she also testified that Mr. Hill would occasionally write the checks to American Express to pay for the credit card even though that was her responsibility. (Tr., p.159, L.11 – p.161, L.10.) The State admitted a spreadsheet of Mr. Hill's purchases on the card between December 2004, and October 2006 that the firm alleged were personal, rather than business expenses. (Plaintiff's exhibit 10.)

Ms. Walker testified that in 2006, Mr. Hill wrote himself checks in the amount of \$120,000; this was in addition to his salary and his commissions. (Tr., p.199, Ls.3-20.) She also testified that Mr. Hill kept the proceeds from the office vending machine when the products in the machine were purchased with company checks. (Tr., p.201, Ls.9-16.)

The State then sought to admit plaintiff's exhibit 15, which contained membership summaries and sales audits for Mr. Hill and his wife's Costco cards, despite the fact that the party that compiled the data testified. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 15.) Mr. Hill objected to the introduction of this exhibit on the bases of hearsay, the confrontation clause, and foundation. (Tr., p.205, Ls.19-20.) The State asserted that the record was a self-authenticating document and could be admitted as a business record. (Tr., p.205, Ls.21-25.) These documents set forth what products were purchased on Mr. Hill's account. (Plaintiff's exhibit 15.)

Curtis Clark, a certified public account, testified next. (Tr., p.256, Ls.9-19.) He was contacted by the other partners of the firm to review the firm's records because they were concerned about money being taken out by one of the partners. (Tr., p.261, Ls.11-22.) His schedule of Mr. Hill's transactions and the amount he owed the company was introduced into evidence. (See plaintiff's exhibits12.)

Robert Brad Jordan, one of the partners in the firm, testified next. (Tr., p.307, Ls.11-15.) He generally explained the organization of the company and the partners' responsibilities. (Tr., p.309, L.1 – p.322, L.13.) He testified that he became aware that Mr. Hill had been using his business card to purchase personal items; he says he confronted Mr. Hill, who told him that he was doing the office a favor because the office owed him money and it was easier to "barter it out, so to speak with that – by charging

that on the card.” (Tr., p.324, Ls.7-23.) At the end of his direct examination, Mr. Johnson was asked what happened to him financially after the collapse of the company; Mr. Hill objected and a different question was then asked. (Tr., p.342, Ls.7-14.) Mr. Johnson was asked if he knew the whereabouts of the third partner in the firm, Patrick Hall. (Tr., p.342, Ls.15-19.) When asked if Mr. Johnson knew what happened to Mr. Hall after the collapse of the company, Mr. Hill objected on the basis of relevancy. (Tr., p.243, Ls.24-25.) The prosecutor responded,

[w]ell, I think it goes to whether or not these two other partners made any money after Mr. Hill was booted out of the company. I think it goes to whether or not these two partners had some sort of financial reward as a result of that. I think it goes to the theft itself in establishing what it did to the other partners.

(Tr., p.343, Ls.1-7.) Counsel for Mr. Hill replied, “I don’t think any of those issues are relevant to the present proceedings.” (Tr., p.343, Ls.10-11.) The court held that the testimony could be of “limited relevance” and permitted a brief inquiry. Mr. Jordan then testified,

Well, uh, about a – just a year ago he moved to California. He, uh, ran out of money – he actually ran out of money that previous year and after – well, let’s see, I had been putting my money in with Patrick, and when Patrick ran out of money a little before I did and couldn’t make payments on his house anymore, he went to California probably just about a year ago, left town, and I kind of got left alone.

(Tr., p.343, Ls.18-25.)

Mr. Hill was convicted. The district court imposed unified concurrent sentences of six years, with three years fixed, and the court retained jurisdiction. (R., p.291.) Following the retained jurisdiction period, Mr. Hill was placed on probation. (R., p.685.) Mr. Hill appealed. He asserts that the district court erred by admitting Mr. Jordan’s testimony and by awarding the State’s full restitution request.

ISSUES

1. Did the district court err when it permitted Brad Johnson to testify to the effects of Mr. Hill's conduct on Patrick Hall?
2. Did the distirct court err in awarding the full restitution amount?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred By Permitting Brad Johnson To Testify To the Effects Of Mr. Hill's Conduct On Patrick Hall

A. Introduction

Mr. Hill asserts that the district court erred by permitting Brad Johnson to testify to the effect that Mr. Hill's conduct had on Patrick Hall because this evidence was irrelevant and was merely an appeal to passion and sympathy.

B. The District Court Erred By Permitting Brad Johnson To Testify To the Effects Of Mr. Hill's Conduct On Patrick Hall

At the end of his direct examination, Mr. Johnson was asked what happened to him financially after the collapse of the company; Mr. Hill objected and a different question was then asked. (Tr., p.342, Ls.7-14.) Mr. Johnson was then asked if he knew the whereabouts of the third partner in the firm, Patrick Hall. (Tr., p.342, Ls.15-19.) When asked if Mr. Johnson knew what happened to Mr. Hill after the collapse of the company, Mr. Hill objected on the basis of relevancy. (Tr., p.243, Ls.24-25.) The prosecutor responded,

[w]ell, I think it goes to whether or not these two other partners made any money after Mr. Hill was booted out of the company. I think it goes to whether or not these two partners had some sort of financial reward as a result of that. I think it goes to the theft itself in establishing what it did to the other partners.

(Tr., p.343, Ls.1-7.) Counsel for Mr. Hill replied, "I don't think any of those issues are relevant to the present proceedings." (Tr., p.343, Ls.10-11.) The court held that the testimony could be of "limited relevance" and permitted a brief inquiry. Mr. Johnson then testified,

Well, uh, about a – just a year ago he moved to California. He, uh, ran out of money – he actually ran out of money that previous year and after – well, let's see, I had been putting my money in with Patrick, and when Patrick ran out of money a little before I did and couldn't make payments on his house anymore, he went to California probably just about a year ago, left town, and I kind of got left alone.

(Tr., p.343, Ls.18-25.) Mr. Hill asserts that the district court erred because this information was not relevant. It was an appeal to passion and sympathy.

Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." I.R.E. 401; *State v. Byington*, 132 Idaho 597, 603 (Ct. App. 1998). Whether evidence is relevant is an issue of law. *State v. Atkinson*, 124 Idaho 816, 819 (Ct. App. 1993); *State v. Lamphere*, 130 Idaho 630, 632 (1997). This Court's standard of review on issues of relevance is *de novo*. *State v. Page*, 135 Idaho 214, 219 (2000).

Testimony regarding the effects of Mr. Hill's alleged theft on Mr. Hall was completely irrelevant. The relevant inquiry in this case was whether Mr. Hill committed theft, not how much the alleged theft hurt a particular victim. Further, the testimony was simply an appeal to passion. Appeals to emotion, passion or prejudice of the jury through use of inflammatory tactics are impermissible. *State v. LaMere*, 103 Idaho 839, 844 (1982). There is no purpose to the prosecutor's question other than asking the jury to feel sympathy – it is a direct appeal to emotion, which is "impermissible." The district court erred in concluding that the evidence had limited relevance and the question itself was an appeal to emotion and passion. The district court erred in permitting the questioning.

II.

The District Court Erred By Awarding The Full Restitution Amount

A. Introduction

Mr. Hill asserts that the district court erred in awarding the State's full restitution request to Mr. Johnson and Mr. Hall because Mr. Hill owned one-third of the firm. Mr. Hill also asserts that the State did not prove that the disputes regarding the Delay loan and the Mullan and Maverick properties were losses resulting from Mr. Hill's criminal conduct. Further, Mr. Hill asserts that the district court erred in not offsetting the amount owed by the amount the victims received from the sale of Mr. Hill's home.

B. The District Court Erred By Awarding The Full Restitution Amount

In this case, the court held a restitution hearing. The State presented the testimony of Curtis Clark, who submitted the same exhibit that he prepared at trial; at the restitution hearing, it was referred to as Plaintiff's Exhibit 5. Mr. Clark concluded that Mr. Hill owed \$354,062.38. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5.) However, it was demonstrated at the hearing that the schedule included expenses not covered in the time period in which the thefts were alleged, and the State agreed that \$41,764.85 fell outside the charging document. (R., p.718.) Mr. Hill filed a restitution memorandum which challenged the restitution order and alleged that Mr. Hill owed no restitution because of set-offs and payments he had already made. (R., pp.710-713.)

Specifically, plaintiff's exhibit 5 listed payments totaling \$41,772.38, made to Allegro Escrow on the "Delay" loan. (R., p.712.) Mr. Clark included these totals because according to Plaintiff's Exhibit 14, the Delay loan was a personal loan to Mr. Hill and his wife, not a corporate loan. However, at the restitution hearing, Mr. Hill

introduced Defendant's Exhibit C, which was a promissory note signed by all members of the Firm on January 12, 2006. (Defendant's Exhibit C.) Mr. Clark acknowledged that he had never seen this document and had based his opinion that the Delay loan was a personal loan based on State's Exhibit 14. (Restitution Tr., p.119, Ls.1-25.)

Exhibit 5 also shows two additional entries for the Delay loan: a \$320,000 charge to Mr. Hill for the loan, and a \$200,000 credit to Mr. Hill, amounting to a charge of \$120,000. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5.) However, because this was a corporate loan, Mr. Hill asserted that he was not liable for restitution on it, and in any event, Plaintiff's Exhibit 5 showed no payments that the corporation actually made on that remaining \$120,000. (R., p.712.)

Mr. Hill also asserted that he should be credited \$216,231.27, which he alleged were paid to the corporation as a result of the sale of his lake house residence. (R., p.713.) Finally, he asserted that any payment should be made to the Firm, rather than the partners individually, because doing so would avoid an unjust enrichment to Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall because "to the extent that Jerry Hill stole from [the Firm], he was stealing from an entity in which he owned one third of the shares." (R., p.711.)

The district court awarded the State's entire restitution request. (R., p.737.) He asserts that the district court erred. Idaho's restitution statute permits a court to order restitution for "any crime which results in an economic loss to the victim." I.C. § 19-5304(2). The statute defines victim as "a person or entity, who suffers economic loss or injury as the result of the defendant's criminal conduct." I.C. § 19-5304(1)(e)(i). The term economic loss includes "the value of property taken, destroyed, broken, or otherwise harmed, lost wages, and direct out-of-pocket losses or expenses, such as

medical expenses resulting from the criminal conduct.” I.C. § 19–5304(1)(a) (emphasis added).

The decision whether to require restitution is within the discretion of the district court. *State v. Hamilton*, 129 Idaho 938, 942 (Ct. App. 1997). The determination of the amount of restitution is a question of fact for the district court. *State v. Bybee*, 115 Idaho 541, 544 (Ct. App. 1989). The exercise of discretion must encompass consideration of the amount of economic loss sustained by the victim as a result of the offense, the financial resources, needs and earning ability of the defendant, and other factors deemed appropriate by the court. *Id. see also* I.C. § 19-5304(7). Findings on the amount of restitution, if supported by substantial evidence, will not be disturbed on appeal. *Bybee*, 115 Idaho at 544.

1. The Delay Loan And The Mullan And Maverick Properties

On cross-examination, Mr. Clark was questioned about the Delay loan and the Maverick and Mullan properties. He replied with the following,

There are several properties that were – had an ambiguous ownership, if you’ll bear with me. The Mullan Property, the Maverick Property, the transactions involving Ray Delay were all involved in property transactions that were originally intended to be projects of the company. However, for a variety of reasons the title to these properties did not get vested in the name of the company.

Some of them were vested in the name of Jerry Hill, and that was- that was done with everyone’s knowledge that they were still going to be company properties, but Mr. Hill at some point decided he was no longer going to treat those as company properties. He was going to keep and treat those properties as his own. The transactions that are on here are related to those properties that he chose to keep as his own.

(Restitution. Tr., p.28, Ls.9-24.) Mr. Hill asserted that he did not owe restitution for the Delay loan because it was a corporate loan. The district court did not address Mr. Hill’s claim regarding the Delay loan in its analysis of calculating restitution. (See R., pp.728-

737.) The only reference to Mr. Hill's claim that some personal loans were actually corporate loans are to the Maverick and Mullan loans, where the court ruled that Mr. Hill had not supported his claim with any documentation. (R., p.730.)

Mr. Hill introduced Defendant's Exhibit C, a promissory note executed in January 2006. When confronted with the promissory note at the restitution hearing, Mr. Clark acknowledged that he had not seen that document previously. (Restitution Tr., p.119, Ls.20-21.) Considering the fact that Mr. Hill presented evidence that the Delay loan was a corporate loan as of January 2006, he asserts that the district court erred in awarding restitution for payments that the firm made on 2/14/06, 3/13/06, 4/5/06, 5/5/06, 6/16/06, 7/3/06, 8/4/06 and 9/8/06, totaling \$41,772.38. (See R., p.712.) He further asserts that the district court erred in awarding the firm the \$120,000 from the October 16, 2006 entries. First, as Defendant's Exhibit C demonstrated, the Delay loan was a corporate loan. However, even if the firm assumed a private loan, there is no evidence that this was done through any illegal means or that the firm was defrauded by assuming this obligation. This is a civil dispute and not money owed by Mr. Hill to the Firm due to any theft.

Second, as asserted by Mr. Hill in his restitution memorandum, there is no evidence that the Firm actually made any payments related to the October 16, 2006 accounting entries. As the restitution statute provides for recovery of actual out-of-pocket expenses, and there was no evidence that the Firm made any of these payments before it finally declared bankruptcy, the district court erred by awarding these amounts.

Regarding the Mullan and Maverick properties, Mr. Hill acknowledged that there was conflicting testimony regarding these properties. (R., p.712.) However, "there was

no evidence presented at the restitution [hearing] that the disputes over these properties were the result of criminal actions by Mr. Hill.” (R., p.712.) This is absolutely correct. Even assuming that these were personal loans subsequently assumed by the Firm, there was absolutely no evidence produced at the restitution hearing that this was due to any theft or deceit by Mr. Hill. While Plaintiff’s Exhibit 5 shows that Mr. Hill may owe the Firm for these matters, the State did not prove that the Firm owed him this because of his theft. It may very well be that Mr. Hill owes the Firm money due to the Firm taking over these loans, but not because of any theft by Mr. Hill. This dispute is a civil dispute between Mr. Hill and the other partners and the district court erred by awarding restitution relating to the Maverick or Mullan property. As Mr. Clark testified at trial, his schedule was simply “the amount that Jerry Hill owed the corporation as of the end of 2006.” (Trial Tr., p.272, Ls.13-14.)

That Mr. Hill may have owed the company is one thing; that he may have owed the company *due to his criminal behavior* is another, and at the restitution hearing, the State made no attempt to separate what was owed due to Mr. Hill’s criminal behavior and what was owed due to civil disputes between the partners. Mr. Hill acknowledged that, “the State introduced exhibits documenting credit card charges made by Mr. Hill. These amounts are not disputed as being appropriate requests for restitution.” (R., p.713.) Likewise, on appeal, Mr. Hill does not dispute those charges as appropriate requests for restitution. As to the other charges, however, Mr. Hill submits that Mr. Clark’s schedule is simply a schedule showing the amount Mr. Hill owed the Firm, not the amount owed due to Mr. Hill’s criminal activity. Even though the court concluded that Mr. Clark was credible and Mr. Hill’s witness was not, the record shows that Mr. Clark did not consider Defendant’s Exhibit C when determining whether the

Delay loan was a corporate loan or a personal loan. Due to the fact that Mr. Clark did not have Defendant's Exhibit C, Mr. Hill submits that his calculation in this regard is in error.

Mr. Hill submits that the district court erred by awarding Mr. Clark's calculated amount in full. He submits that with regard to these properties, the State did not demonstrate that the Firm suffered these, "injuries as the result of the defendant's criminal conduct." I.C. § 19-5304(1)(e)(i).

2. The Lake House

Mr. Hill also asserted that the proceeds from the sale of his lake house be applied against any restitution order. (R., p.713.) Mr. Hill presented evidence that Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall had a lien on his house for \$216,231.27 that would be released upon Idaho Independent Bank's receipt of that amount, provided that no proceeds went to Mr. Hill or his wife. (Defendant's Exhibit A.) Further, he submitted evidence that, upon the sale of his house, a payoff was made to Idaho Independent Bank for this exact amount. (Defendant's Exhibit B.)

Regarding this claim, the court determined that it was not supported by authority, but that if it were, "this restitution hearing is not the place for Hill to make claims about other corporate matters. This restitution hearing is not the place for Hill to make claims of set-off, or to bring in collateral issues. Hill can bring a civil action if he feels [the Firm] owes him money." (R., p.735.)

The district court erred. The restitution hearing was the exact place for Mr. Hill to make claims of set-offs. The purpose of restitution is to make the victims whole. If the victims had already received \$216,231.27 from Mr. Hill, this should have been credited against the amount Mr. Hill owed. The purpose of the restitution statute is to make the

victims whole; if they had already received funds from Mr. Hill, recovering these funds in addition to the full restitution award amounts to a windfall for the Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall. The evidence before the court was that the condition precedent to releasing the lien had been satisfied and therefore the court erred in not crediting Mr. Hill this amount.

3. Unjust Enrichment To Mr. Jordan And Mr. Hall

The Articles of Organization for the firm were introduced as Plaintiff's Exhibit 1. (See plaintiff's exhibit 1.) The Articles identify three members of the firm: R. Bradley Jordan, Jerry A. Hill, and Patrick J. Hall. (Plaintiff's exhibit 1, p.1.) In his restitution memorandum, Mr. Hill asserted that any restitution should be paid to Jordan, Hill and Hall, Inc, dba Real Estate Northwest, who was the victim. (R., p.710.) Mr. Hill asserted that, "this would protect any creditors in the Jordan, Hill and Hall, Inc. bankruptcy proceedings. In addition naming the correct victim avoids unjust enrichment to Brad Jordan and Patrick Hall." (R., p.710.) Mr. Hill further asserted, "to the extent that Jerry Hill stole from Jordan, Hill and Hall he was stealing from an entity in which he owned one third of the shares." (R., pp.710-11.)

The district court stated that "Hill's argument at first blush makes sense," but held that Mr. Hill was not entitled to one-third of the restitution because he was not a "victim" and was not entitled to any restitution due to his unclean hands. (R., p.733.) Because the court's restitution award amounts to a windfall for Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall, Mr. Hill asserts that the district court erred by awarding the full amount.

In this case, the district court awarded more than the amount of the economic loss sustained by Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall. As noted above, Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall each had a one-third interest in the Firm. It stands to reason that they should each

receive one-third of the Firm's losses, as this would reflect their actual economic loss. See I.C. § 19-5304(1)(e)(i). However, the district court awarded the full amount, with fifty percent each to Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall, because Mr. Hill was not a victim and cannot claim one-third of the amounts owed. (R., p.733.) Further, the court held that Mr. Hill would not be entitled to restitution because of the doctrine of unclean hands. (R., p.733.) The district court erred.

However, Mr. Hill was not asserting that he should pay restitution to himself. His assertion was simply that, because he had a one-third interest in the Firm and the other partners each had a one-third interest, the other partners should be compensated accordingly. Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall were not each entitled to half of the Firm's assets; all three partners were entitled to one-third of an interest in the Firm. Further, the doctrine of unclean hands does not apply here. Mr. Hill was not seeking to unjustly enrich himself or deprive the victims of their share of the Firm's interest. Paying one-third to Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall would recognize the interest all three partners had in the Firm and make the parties whole, which is the goal of restitution.

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