6-8-2012

State v. Hill Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38808

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Hill Has Failed To Show Reversible Error In The Admission Of Testimony By Brad Jordan About The Effect Of Hill's Crimes On Patrick Hall Because Any Error Was Harmless

A. Introduction

Hill asserts on appeal "the district court erred by permitting Brad Johnson [sic] to testify to the effect that Mr. Hill's conduct had on Patrick Hall because the evidence was irrelevant and merely an appeal to passion and sympathy." (Appellant's brief, p.5.) Because any error was harmless, Hill's argument fails.

B. Standard of Review

Relevance of evidence is reviewed de novo. State v. Zichko, 129 Idaho 259, 264, 923 P.2d 966, 971 (1996); State v. Lamphere, 130 Idaho 630, 632, 945 P.2d 1, 3 (1997); State v. MacDonald, 131 Idaho 367, 956 P.2d 1314 (Ct. App. 1998).

"Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected" I.R.E. 103(a). See also I.C.R. 52 ("Any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded."). "The inquiry is whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, a rational jury would have convicted [the defendant] even without the admission of the challenged evidence." State v. Johnson, 148 Idaho 664, 669, 227 P.3d 918, 923 (2010) (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967); Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999)).

C. Admission Of The Testimony By Brad Jordan About The Effect Of Hill's Crimes On Patrick Hall Personally Was Harmless Beyond A Reasonable Doubt

Hill asserts the district court erred by allowing Brad Jordan to testify as to the effects on Patrick Hall of the collapse of their company was error because it was irrelevant. (Appellant's brief, pp.5-6.) The brief objected-to exchange was as follows:

Q. What happened to you personally as a result – in terms of your finances as a result of the collapse of the company?

MR NEILS [Hill's trial counsel]: Objection. Relevancy, more prejudicial than probative.

THE COURT: Any response?

MR. VERHAREN [prosecutor]: Let me ask another question.

THE COURT: All right.

Q. (By Mr. Verharen) Are you familiar with the whereabouts of Mr. Hall, Patrick Hall?

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. Where does he live now?

A. I believe he lives in Southern California.

Q. And do you know what Mr. Hall does now?

A. I understand he works for his son down there.

Q. Do you know what happened to him in regards to the collapse of the company?

MR NEILS: Objection. Relevancy.

THE COURT: Any response?

MR. VERHAREN: Well, I think it goes to whether or not these two other partners made any money after Mr. Hill was booted out of the company. I think it goes to whether or not either of these two partners had some sort of financial regard as a result of that. I think it goes to the theft itself in establishing what it did to the other two partners.

THE COURT: All right. Any response, Mr. Neils?

MR. NEILS: I don't think any of those issues are relevant to the present proceeding.

THE COURT: Well, I think it may be of limited relevance, so I will allow very brief inquiry.

Q. (By Mr. Verharen) Do you remember the question?

A. Uh –

Q. Patrick Hall, what happened to him?

A. Patrick Hall. Well, uh, about a – just about a year ago he moved to California. He, uh, ran out of money – he actually ran out of money that previous year and after – well, let's see, I had been putting my money in with Patrick, and when Patrick ran out of money a little before I did and couldn't make payments on his house anymore, he went to California probably just about a year ago, left town and I kind of got left alone.

(Tr., p.342, L.7 – p.343, L.25.) Assuming the district court erred in admitting the statement of Brad Jordan, any error was harmless.

"[T]he Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one." Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 681 (1986). In reviewing for harmless error the court evaluates the potential prejudice from the inadmissible evidence in the context of the evidence presented at trial. See State v. Yager, 139 Idaho 680, 687, 85 P.3d 656, 663 (2004) (error in failing to suppress evidence harmless because probative value of evidence improperly admitted at trial was de minimus in light of evidence presented). Review of the record

shows the statement of Brad Jordan regarding the effect of Hill's crimes on Patrick Hall did not deny Hill a fair trial because the potential prejudice of the testimony was minimal in light of the evidence presented at trial. Beyond a reasonable doubt a rational jury would have convicted Hill even without admission of that evidence.

First, the potential prejudice from the testimony was minimal. The testimony of Mr. Jordan went to the effect of "the collapse of the company." (Tr., p.342, Ls.22-23.) There was a period of time between the discovery of the thefts, and Hill's ouster, and the company's collapse. (Tr., p.333, L.24 – p.337, L.3.) The ultimate cause of the company's collapse was the recession, which hit the real estate business very hard. (Tr., p.337, Ls.4-24.) Because the collapse of the company was not directly tied to Hill's thefts, testimony regarding how the collapse of the company affected one of the other partners had minimal potential for prejudice.

Second, the testimony at trial was extensive. Brad Jordan, former member of the firm Jordan, Hill and Hall, testified as to the nature of the business relationship as well as the company policy on company credit cards and allowable expenditures. (see generally Tr., p.309, L.1 – p.320, L.24.) Mr. Jordan also testified to his discovery of Hill using business funds for non-business purposes, the audit undertaken of the company books, and the eventual collapse of the business itself. (Tr., p.323, L.7 – p.339, L.4.) Former bookkeeper for Jordan, Hill and Hall, Sawnie Walker, testified about the accounting procedures in the office and laid the foundation for the admission of

credit card statements and internal accounting documents which outlined instances of personal charges being made by Hill on his company credit card and paid for with company funds. (Tr., p.125, L.25 – p.255, L.6.) Linda Yacono, former office manager for Jordan, Hill and Hall, testified about an agreement she had with Hill that allowed her to buy personal items for herself with money from the business as well as her assistance in issuing company checks for Hill for his personal use. (Tr., p.362, L.12 – 391, L.11.) Roberta Guttromson, former office assistant, bookkeeper and personal assistant to Brad Jordan, testified as to her role in the company and her understanding of Hill's role in the maintenance of the office vending machines and the proceeds therefrom. (Tr., p.392, L.2 – p.396, L.21.) Finally, Curtis Clark, a certified public accountant, testified at length about his review of the business books which was undertaken after he was approached by Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall with their concerns about Hill's theft of money from the business. (Tr., p.256, L.8 – p.307, L.4.)

The testimony of Brad Jordan regarding the whereabouts and activities of former partner Patrick Hall after the collapse of the business was fleeting and insignificant in light of the extensive evidence presented at trial. Although Hill claims on appeal the testimony was "simply an appeal to passion" (Appellant's brief, p.6), there is no claim by Hill nor any evidence in the record that this brief exchange had any impact on the jury's verdict. Any error was harmless.

II.

The State Presented Substantial Competent Evidence To Support The Restitution Award

A. Introduction

On appeal, Hill asserts the district court erred in awarding the restitution as requested because he “owned one-third of the firm.” (Appellant’s brief, p.7.) Additionally, Hill argues the state failed to prove certain losses included in the restitution amount were “losses resulting from Mr. Hill’s criminal conduct,” and the district court failed to offset the amount owed “by the amount the victims received from the sale” of Hill’s home. (Appellant’s brief, p.7.) Because the award was supported by substantial competent evidence, Hill’s arguments fail.

B. Standard of Review

The decision whether to order restitution and in what amount is committed to the trial court’s discretion. State v. Higley, 151 Idaho 76, 78, 253 P.3d 750, 752 (Ct. App. 2010); State v. Card, 146 Idaho 111, 114, 190 P.3d 930, 933 (Ct. App. 2008); In Re Doe, 146 Idaho 277, 284, 192 P.3d 1101, 1108 (Ct. App. 2008); State v. Smith, 144 Idaho 687, 692, 169 P.3d 275, 280 (Ct. App. 2007). The trial court’s factual findings in relation to restitution will not be disturbed if supported by substantial evidence. Smith, 144 Idaho at 692, 169 P.3d at 280.

C. Substantial Evidence Supports The District Court’s Finding That Hill Was Responsible For Restitution In The Amount Requested By The State

Idaho’s restitution statutes require Hill to compensate victims who are injured by his criminal actions. I.C. § 19-5302 (“If a district court or magistrate’s

division orders the defendant to pay restitution, the court shall order the defendant to pay such restitution to the victim or victims injured by the defendant's actions."); I.C. § 19-5304(2) ("Restitution shall be ordered for any economic loss which the victim actually suffers.").

"One of the purposes of restitution is to obviate the need for victims to incur the cost and inconvenience of a separate civil action in order to gain compensation for their losses." State v. Schultz, 148 Idaho 884, 886, 231 P.3d 529, 531 (Ct. App. 2008) (citations omitted). The public policy underlying the statute "favor[s] full compensation to crime victims who suffer economic loss." State v. Bybee, 115 Idaho 541, 543, 768 P.2d 804, 806 (Ct. App. 1989); see also, State v. Wardle, 137 Idaho 808, 811, 53 P.3d 1227, 1230 (Ct. App. 2002) (noting that "restitution must be directed toward correcting a harm or paying a cost that results from the defendant's crime"). "Restitution orders also operate for the benefit of the state, in part because they promote the rehabilitative and deterrent purposes of the criminal law." State v. Doe, 146 Idaho 277, 283, 192 P.3d 1101, 1107 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing State v. Olpin, 140 Idaho 377, 378, 93 P.3d 708, 709 (Ct. App. 2004)).

"[D]etermination of economic loss [is] based upon the civil preponderance of evidence standard." Doe, 146 Idaho at 284, 192 P.3d at 1108 (citing I.C. § 19-5304(6)). Further, "there must be a causal connection between the conduct for which the defendant is convicted and the damages the victim suffers." Schultz, 148 Idaho at 886, 231 P.3d at 531 (citing State v. Shafer, 144 Idaho 370, 372, 161 P.3d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2007)).

Prior to sentencing, the state filed a motion for restitution in the amount of \$354,062.38, to be divided equally between Brad Jordan and Patrick Hall. (R., Vol.II, pp.251-252.) This request was supported by Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 12, admitted at trial, which was an itemized list of the money stolen by Hill. (R., Vol.II, pp.253-255.) The issue of restitution was left open for 90 days following Hill's jurisdictional review hearing. (R., Vol.II, p.293.) The district court held a hearing on the issue of restitution wherein the same accountant from the trial testified on behalf of the state (see generally, Supp. Tr., p.7, p.24 – p.36, L.9; p.99, L.10 – p.127, L.19 (testimony of Curtis Clark) and Hill presented the testimony of a CPA on his behalf (Supp. Tr., p.37, L.9 – p.78, L.6 (testimony of Suzanne Metzger)). Additionally, there were 22 separate exhibits admitted at the restitution hearing. (Supp. Tr.). Following the presentation of evidence, the district court took the matter of restitution under advisement and ordered simultaneous briefing in lieu of closing arguments. (Supp. Tr., p.128, L.17 – p.129, L.15.) The state then filed an amended memorandum of restitution and brief in support thereof seeking \$145,384.15 to Brad Jordan and the same amount to Patrick Hall, reflecting the proper amount of restitution encompassed by the time frame of the thefts Hill was convicted of. (R., Vol.III, pp.708-709, 714-719.) The court filed a memorandum decision and order on motion for restitution consistent with the amounts outlined in the amended memorandum of restitution finding the amount appropriate. (R., Vol.III, p.737.)

Hill argues the district court erred in awarding the full amount of restitution requested by the state because not all of the amounts owing were due to his

criminal conduct but instead because of “civil disputes between the partners” in the firm. (Appellant’s brief, pp.9-12.) Specifically, Hill disputes the award of restitution as it relates to the “Delay loan” and the “Mullan and Maverick properties.” (Appellant’s brief, pp.9-12.) These concerns were raised at the restitution hearing and addressed by the district court in awarding restitution. The district court did not accept Hill’s arguments below, instead finding credible the testimony of certified public accountant Curtis Clark at trial and at the restitution hearing over the testimony of Hill himself and Ms. Metzger, his accounting witness, at the restitution hearing: “[t]he jury obviously found Clark credible and Hill not credible. The Court specifically makes the same findings on credibility.” (R., Vol.III, p.732.) Because the district court found Ms. Metzger based her opinions on what she was told by Hill, it likewise found her testimony incredible. (R., Vol.III, p.733.) Mr. Clark’s findings at the restitution hearing were supported by the admission of 14 separate exhibits. (See generally, Plaintiff’s Exhibits No. 1-14, Admitted in Evidence 6/14/11 and 6/16/11). Although Hill argues on appeal the amounts Mr. Clark attributed to Hill as owing the company are “not owed due to Mr. Hill’s criminal activity” (Appellant’s brief, p.11), this assertion is unsupported. There is sufficient competent evidence to support the district court’s restitution findings.

Hill further argues that any restitution amount should have been offset by proceeds of the sale of his home being applied to a loan held by the firm. (Appellant’s brief, pp.12-13.) Hill points to Defendant’s Exhibit’s A and B as proof that the sale of his home resulted in a payment to Idaho Independent Bank

on behalf of Jordan, Hill and Hall in an amount of \$216,231.27 and as such, his restitution amount should have been reduced. (Appellant's brief, p.12.) Although there was no dispute as to whether this amount actually went to pay a debt incurred by the firm of Jordan, Hill and Hall, there is nothing in the record to support any claim the funds went towards making whole Mr. Jordan and Mr. Hall as a result of Hill's criminal conduct. As the district court found, the issue of the sale of the house relates to other financial matters relating to the firm's corporate business and is not an appropriate set-off of restitution in the criminal case. (R., Vol.III, p.735.)